WHEN RECORDED, RETURN TO: Debra Griffiths Handley DART, ADAMSON & DONOVAN 257 East 200 South, Suite 1050 Salt Lake City, Utah 84111 ENTRY NO. 01114940
07/29/2019 10:45:16 AM B: 2519 P: 1836
Bylaws PAGE 1/38
RHONDA FRANCIS: SUMMIT COUNTY RECORDER
FEE 1134.00 BY ADAMSON & HOGGAN LLC

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION NOTICE RE: BYLAWS

The Pinebrook Homeowners' Association, Inc. (the "Association"), is governed by and subject to the terms and conditions of that certain *Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Pinebrook Subdivisions, Summit County, Utah,* dated September 9, 1977, recorded with the Offices of the Summit County Recorder, State of Utah, Entry No. 141275, at Book M102 and pages 118-134, as amended and supplemented, and more properly described as:

See Exhibit A.

Records in the corporate offices of the Association support that on or about September 28, 2003, at least a majority of the Board of Directors (the "Board") approved those certain *Amended and Restated Bylaws of Pinebrook Homeowners' Association* (the "Bylaws"). Since September 28, 2003, the Association has referred to, relied upon and abided by the terms of the Bylaws despite the fact that the original signed and dated Bylaws or a copy of thereof could not be located.

Utah Code Annotated Section 57-8a-216(1)(a) and 57-8a-216(3) of the Utah Community Association Act requires community associations such as the Association to file its bylaws for recording. At its April 16, 2019 annual meeting in an effort to address the fact that an original and/or copy of an original signed and dated set of Bylaws has not been located, the Board unanimously voted to certify that the Bylaws were adopted, signed and dated on September 28, 2003. The Board memorialized the vote by resolution. A true and correct copy of the Bylaws is attached hereto and incorporated by reference at Exhibit B.

Moreover, in accordance with the authority granted by Section 10.1 of the Bylaws which grants the Board the right to amend the Bylaws without member approval, the Board, at the April 16, 2019 annual meeting, unanimously voted to delete and replace Section 6.1 of the Bylaws as follows:

ARTICLE VI BOARD OF DIRECTORS

6.1 Number, Term. All corporate powers shall be exercised and the business and affairs of the Association shall be managed by the governing board of directors (also referred to in the Articles of Incorporation as a board of trustees and referred to therein and herein as the "Board"), consisting of seven (7) directors, each of whom shall be elected for a term of three (3) years. Directors shall begin their terms immediately upon election and shall hold office until their successors are elected and qualified or the seat is vacated as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws. Terms of office shall be staggered; three (3) directors will be elected in 2020, two (2) directors will be elected in 2021, two (2) directors will start over in 2023.

A true and correct copy of the First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of Pinebrook Homeowners' Association is attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated by reference

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Notice of the Board of Directors of the Pinebrook Homeowners' Association is executed on this _____ day of July, 2019.

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, a Utah non-profit corporation

By: Holly Smith Its: President

State of Utah

)ss.

County of Summit

Salt Lake

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _d day of July, 2019, by Holly Smith, the President of the Pinebrook Homeowners' Association, Inc.

JENNIFER PARKINSON Notary Public • State of Utah Commission # 692817 My Commission Expires January 10, 2021

Jotary Public

Residing at 2022 S. 21000. SLC VF 94108

Exhibit A

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION

SUBDIVISIONS SUBJECT TO DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR PINEBROOK SUBDIVISIONS, SUMMIT COUNTY, UTAH:

BOOTHILL SUBDIVISION	PINEBROOK ESTATES SUBDIVISION
	No. 1, Phase I, PLAT A
ECKER HILL SUBDIVISION	No. 1, Phase I, PLAT B
PLAT A	No. 2, Phase I
PLAT B	No. 3
PLAT C	No. 3A
PLAT D	No. 3B
	No. 6A
PINERIDGE SUBDIVISION	No. 8
	No. 8A
SUNRIDGE SUBDIVISION	No. 10

LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND TAX PARCEL NUMBERS

BOOTHILL SUBDIVISION

Lots 1 through 19, Boothill Subdivision
Tax Parcel Nos. BHS-B-1 through BHS-B-19

ECKER HILL SUBDIVISION

- Lots 1 through 24, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat A
 Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-A-E1 through EKH-A-E24
- Lots 25 and 26, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat A
 Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-A-E25-AM through EKH-A-E26-AM
- Lots 27 through 52, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat A
 Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-B-E27 through EKH-B-E52
- Lots 53 and 54, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat A
 Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-A-E53-AM through EKH-A-E54-AM
- Lots 55 through 60, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat A
 Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-A-E55 through EKH-A-E60
- Lot 61, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat A
 Tax Parcel No. EKH-A-E61-AM
- Lots 62 through 65, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat A
 Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-A-E62 through EKH-A-E65
- Lots 66 through 89, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat B
 Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-B-E66 through EKH-B-E89

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION NOTICE RE: AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS AND AMENDMENT TO BYLAWS **PAGE 3 OF 38**

Lot 90, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat B Tax Parcel No. 3340&3344-E90

Lots 91 through 118, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat B
Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-B-E91 through EKH-B-E118

Common Area, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Parcel A, Plat C: PARCEL A ECKER HILL PLAT "C" SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL PLAT ON FILE IN THE SUMMIT COUNTY RECORDERS OFFICE CONT 10.293 SQ FT OR .024 ACRES 1072-729.

Tax Parcel No. EKH-C-A

Common Area, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat C: OPEN SPACE, ECKER HILL PLAT "C" SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL PLAT ON FILE IN THE SUMMIT COUNTY RECORDERS OFFICE CONT 24,223 SQ FT OR 0.56 AC ADJACENT TO LOT C-12 & 4,503 SQ FT OR 0.10 AC ADJACENT TO LOT C-1 BAL 0.66 AC 1072-727.

Tax Parcel No. EKH-C-OS

Lots 1 and 2, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat C
Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-C-1 through EKH-C-2

Lot 3, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat C Tax Parcel No. EKH-C-3-AM

Lots 4 and 5, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat C
Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-C-1 through EKH-C-5

Lot 6, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat C Tax Parcel No. 3340&3344-C-6

Lots 7 through 12, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat C
Tax Parcel Nos, EKH-C-1 through EKH-C-12

Lots 1 through 8, Ecker Hill Subdivision, Plat D
Tax Parcel Nos. EKH-D-1 through EKH-D-8

PINEBROOK ESTATES SUBDIVISION

Common Area, Pinebrook Subdivision No. 1, Phase I, Plat A: LOT B PINEBROOK SUBDIVISION NO 1 PHASE I PLAT A IN SEC 11 T1S43E SLBM CONT 0.353 AC IN COMMON AREA 473-443.

Tax Parcel No. PB-1A-B

Lots 1 through 11, Pinebrook Subdivision No. 1, Phase I, Plat A
Tax Parcel Nos. PB-IA-1 through PB-IA-11

Lots 12 through 46, Pinebrook Subdivision No. 1, Phase I, Plat B Tax Parcel Nos. PB-IB-12 through PB-IB-46

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION NOTICE RE: AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS AND AMENDMENT TO BYLAWS

PAGE 4 OF 38

- Lots 47 through 49, Pinebrook Subdivision No. 1, Phase I, Plat A Tax Parcel Nos. PB-IA-47 through PB-IA-49
- Lots 50 through 86, Pinebrook Subdivision No. 2, Phase I Tax Parcel Nos. PB-2-I-50 through PB-2-I-86
- Lots 87, Pinebrook Subdivision No. 2, Phase I Tax Parcel No. PB-2-I-87-88
- Lots 88 through 99, Pinebrook Subdivision No. 2, Phase I Tax Parcel No. PB-2-I-88 through PB-2-I-99
- Lot 100, Pinebrook Subdivision No. 2, Phase I, amended plat Tax Parcel No. PB-2-I-100-AM
- Lots 101 through 115, Pinebrook Subdivision 3
 Tax Parcel Nos. PB-3-101 through PB-3-115
- Lots 116 and 117, Pinebrook Subdivision 3
 Tax Parcel No. PB-3-116-117

Common Area, Pinebrook Subdivision 4: BEG AT THE SW COR OF LOT 152 OF PINEBROOK SUB #4 & RUN TH S 55} 16'21" E 219.57 FT ALG THE S LINE OFLOTS 152 & 153 TO THE W'LY R-O-W OF STAGE COACH DR, SD PT BEING ON A 437.73FT RADIUS CURVE TO THE RIGHT, (RADIUS BEARS N 63}53'18" W) TH SW'LY ALG THEARC OF SD CURVE & SD W'LY R-O-W 115.65 FT TO A PT ON A 233.00 FT RADIUS CURVETO THE LEFT (RADIUS BEARS S 48}45'00" E) TH SE'LY ALG THE ARC OF SD CURVE & SDW'LY R-O-W 97.40 FT TO THE W'LY R-O-W OFBUCKBOARD DR; TH ALG SD E'LY R-O-W THEFOLLOWING 2 COURSES: N16}30'00"W 155.92 FT TO A PT ON A 612.00 FT RADIUS CURVETO THE RIGHT, (RADIUS BEARS N 73}30'00" E) TH NE'LY ALG THE ARC OF SD CURVE158.31 FT TO THE PT OF BEG CONT 0.57 AC 527-76 527-78.

Tax Parcel No. PB-4-A

- Lots 143 through 193, Pinebrook Subdivision 4
 Tax Parcel Nos. PB-4-143 through PB-4-193
- Lots 194 through 195, Pinebrook Subdivision 4 Tax Parcel No. PB-4-194-AM
- Lots 196 through 229, Pinebrook Subdivision 4
 Tax Parcel Nos. PB-4-196 through PB-4-229
- Lots 230 through 235, Pinebrook Subdivision 10
 Tax Parcel Nos. PB-10-230 through PB-10-235

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION NOTICE RE: AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS AND AMENDMENT TO BYLAWS PAGE 5 OF 38

Lots 249, 290 through 295, Pinebrook Subdivision 6A
Tax Parcel Nos. PB-6A-249, PB-6A-290 through PB-6A-295

Common Area Near Lot 358, Pinebrook Subdivision 8: BEG AT THE MOST N'LY COR OF LOT 358PINEBROOK # 8 SUB, SD PT BEING W 2248.92 FT & S 1296.71 FT FR THE NE COROF SEC 14 T1SR3E SLBM SD PT ALSO BEING ON THE S'LY R-O-W LINE OF PINEBROOK RD & RUN TH N 63}30'00" E ALG AD S'LY R-O-W LINE 435.60 FT; TH S 26}30'00" E 250.00FT; TH S 63}30'00" W 435.60 FT; TH N 26}30'00" W 250.00 FT ALG THE E'LY LINEOF SD LOT 358 TO THE PT OF BEG CONT 2.5 ACRES (LESS 0.74 AC 872-678 PP-43-A-6-A) BAL 1.76 ACRES 527-80-83 (SEE SWD 534-87 PARCEL E, INT OF VALLEYBANK & TRUST CO TO PINEBROOK DEVEL CORP). Tax Parcel No. PP-43-A-6

Common Area, Pinebrook Subdivision 6A: COMMON AREA AND DRAINAGE EASEMENT OF PINEBROOK SUBDIVISION NO 6A IN SEC 14 T1SR3, SLBM CONT 1.60 ACSUP DECLARATIONS M237-190 473-443.

Tax Parcel No. PB-6-A-C

Lots 339 through 358, Pinebrook Subdivision 8
Tax Parcel Nos. PB-8-339 through PB-8-358

Lots 359 through 361, Pinebrook Subdivision 8A
Tax Parcel Nos. PB-8-A-359 through PB-8-A-361

Common Area, Pinebrook Subdivision 8: COMMON AREA & DRAINAGE EASEMENT OF PINEBROOK SUBDIVISION NO 8 ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL PLAT THEREOF ON FILE & OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE SUMMIT COUNTY RECORDER CONT 3.525 AC 473-443.

Tax Parcel No. PB-8-C

Lots 363 through 367, Pinebrook Subdivision 3A
Tax Parcel Nos. PB-3-A-363 through PB-3-A-367

Lots 369 through 371, Pinebrook Subdivision 3B Tax Parcel Nos. PB-3-B-369 & PP-54-A and PB-3-B-370 through PB-3-B-371

PINERIDGE SUBDIVISION LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS & TAX PARCEL NUMBERS

Lots 1 through 10, Pineridge Subdivision
Tax Parcel Nos, PB-PR-1 through PB-PR-10

Lots 4 through 5, Pineridge Lots 4 & 5, amended
Tax Parcel Nos, PB-PR-4-AM, PB-PR-5-AM

Lot 11, Pineridge Subdivision, amended Tax Parcel Nos. PB-PR-11-AM

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION NOTICE RE: AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS AND AMENDMENT TO BYLAWS

PAGE 6 OF 38

- Lots 12 through 15, Pineridge Subdivision
 Tax Parcel Nos. PB-PR-12 through PB-PR-15
- Lot 16, Pineridge Subdivision, amended Tax Parcel Nos. PB-PR-16-AM
- Lots 17 through 19, Pineridge Subdivision
 Tax Parcel Nos. PB-PR-17 through PB-PR-19
- Lot 20, Pineridge Subdivision, amended Tax Parcel Nos. PB-PR-20-AM
- Lots 21 through 98, Pineridge Subdivision
 Tax Parcel Nos. PB-PR-21 through PB-PR-98
- Lots 99 through 100A, Pineridge Subdivision
 Tax Parcel Nos. PB-PR-99-AM through PB-PR-100-AM
- Lot 101A, Pineridge Subdivision
 Tax Parcel No. PB-PR-101-A-AM
- Lots 102 through 130, Pineridge Subdivision
 Tax Parcel No. PB-PR-102 through PB-PR-130

Common Area, Pineridge Subdivision: OPEN SPACE PARCEL 2 PINERIDGES SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL PLAT ON FILE IN THE SUMMIT COUNTY RECORDERS OFFICE CONT 30.14 ACRES 1169-474.

Tax Parcel No. PB-PR-OS-2

SUNRIDGE SUBDIVISION

Lot 1AM, Sunridge Subdivision

Tax Parcel No. SUNR-SR-1-AM

Lots 2 through 8, Sunridge Subdivision

Tax Parcel Nos. SUNR-SR-2 through SUNR-SR-8

Lot 9AM, Sunridge Subdivision

Tax Parcel No. SUNR-SR-9-AM

Lots 10 through 37, Sunridge Subdivision

Tax Parcel Nos. SUNR-SR-10 through SUNR-SR-37

Lot 38AM, Sunridge Subdivision

Tax Parcel No. SUNR-SR-38-AM

Exhibit B

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Pinebrook Homeowners' Association, Inc. September 28, 2003

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' A'SSOCIATION

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pag	е		
ARTICLE I - LEGAL AUTHORITY				
ARTICLE II - PRIN	ARTICLE II - PRINCIPAL OFFICE AND AGENT			
Section 2.1	Principal Office	1		
Section 2.2	Registered Agent	1		
ARTICLE (II - BOOKS AND RECORDS				
Section 3.1	Books and Records	1		
Section 3.2	Inspection of Records	2		
Section 3.3	Financial Statements	3		
ARTICLE IV - MEN	MBERSHIP	3		
Section 4.1	Membership; Voting	3		
Section 4.2	Memberships Appurtenant	4		
Section 4.3	Transfers of Memberships	4		
Section 4.4	Leased Memberships	5		
Section 4.5	Rules	5		
ARTICLE V - MEE	TINGS OF MEMBERS	5		
Section 5.1	D1 (31 t)	5		
Section 5.2	American Balandia -	5		
Section 5.3	Special Meetings	5		
Section 5.4	Notice of Members' Meetings	5		
Section 5.5	Waiver of Notice	_		
Section 5.6	Fixing Record Date for Meetings	3		
Section 5.7	Voting List	3		
Section 5,8	Quorum; Act of the Members	7		
Section 5.9	Proxies	7		
Section 5.10	Adjourments	7		
Section 5.11	Meetings by Telecommunication	7		
ARTICLE VI - BOA	RD OF DIRECTORS 8	4		
Section 6.1	Number, Term	3		
Section 6.2	General Powers	į		
Section 6.3	Qualifications	á		
Section 6.4	Compensation	, 1		
Section 6.5	Election of Directors	•		

-j-

TABLE OF CONTENTS (cont.)

• •	•	Pag	jе
ARTICLE VI (Cont	nued)		
Section 6.6	Vacancies		a
Section 6.7	Removal		
Section 6.8	Regular Meetings	•••	. a
Section 6.9	Special Meetings		. 1N
Section 6.10	Notice of Special Meetings		10
Section 6.11	Action Without a Meeting		10
Section 6.12	Telephone Conference Participation		11
Section 6.13	Quorum and Voting		11
Section 6.14	Manner of Acting		11
Section 6.15	Waiver of Notice; Presumption of Assent		12
Section 6.16	Committees	• • • •	12
ADTIOLE 1 71	**************************************		
ARTICLE VII - OFF	ICERS	· • · ·	12
Section 7.1			
Section 7.2	Duties		
Section 7.3	Compensation		16
Section 7.4	Removal and Vacancies	• • • •	16
ARTICLE VIII - ASS	SESSMENTS		17
Section 8.1	Creation of the Lien and Personal Obligation of Assessmen		17
Section 8.2	Purpose of Assessments		17
Section 8.3	Regular Assessments		17
Section 8.4	Special Assessments for Capital Improvements		17
Section 8.5	Uniform Rate of Assessment		18
Section 8.6	Date of Commencement of Regular Assessments and		
	Fixing Thereof	• •	18
Section 8.7	Certificate of Payment		18
Section 8.8	Exempt Property		18
Section 8.9	Nonpayment of Assessments		18
APTICLE IV INDE	MNIFICATION		00
Section 9.1	Actions against Association		
Section 9.1			
Section 9.3	Actions by Association		
Section 9.4	Authorization by Board		
36010H 9.4	Authorization by Board		21

TABLE OF CONTENTS (cont.)

	·	Pa	ge
ARTICLE IX (Conti	nued)		
	Advance of Expenses		24
Section 9.6	Other Rights		21
Section 9.7	Insurance	• • • • • •	4 1
Section 9.8		• • • • • •	22
0.0 (1611000	Notice of Indemnification	• • • • • •	22
ARTICLE X - AMEN	NDMENT		20
Section 10.1	Amendment by Directors		22
Section 10.2	Amendment by Members		22
Section 10.3	Record of Amendments		24
Section 10.4	Bylaw Provisions Additional and Supplemental to	• • • • • •	. 22
	Provisions by Law		23
Section 10.5	Bylaw Provisions Contrary to or Inconsistent with		23
	Provisions of Law		23
ARTICLE XI - SUNI	DRY PROVISIONS		72
Section 11.1	Instruments in Writing	• • • • • •	23
Section 11.2	Fiscal Year		20
Section 11.3	Shares of Stock Held by the Association	• • • • • •	_∠ა
Section 11.4	References		23

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION

ARTICLE I LEGAL AUTHORITY

These Amended and Restated Bylaws (the "Bylaws"), of Pinebrook Homeowners' Association (the "Association"), are promulgated pursuant to and in conformance with the Utah Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act, Utah Code Ann. §16-6a-101 et seq., (2000) (the "Act"), and pursuant to authority granted to the Board as set forth the Association's Articles of Incorporation.

ARTICLE II PRINCIPAL OFFICE AND AGENT

Section 2.1 <u>Principal Office</u>: The principal office of the Association is at the offices of the Gorgoza Mutual Water Company, 7950 Pinebrook Road, Park City, Utah 84098.

Section 2.2 Registered Agent: The registered agent of the Association is Paula Etherington, whose address is 7359 North Tall Oaks Drive, Park City, Utah 84098.

ARTICLE III BOOKS AND RECORDS

Section 3.1. <u>Books and Records</u>. The Association shall keep as permanent records, at its principal office, the following books, records and documents:

- (a) its Articles of Incorporation:
- (b) its Bylaws;
- (c) resolutions adopted by its Board;
- (d) the minutes of all members' meetings, for a period of three years;
- (e) records of all action taken by members without a meeting, for a period of three years;

- (f) all written communications to members generally, for a period of three years;
- (g) a list of the names and business or home addresses of its current directors and officers:
- (h) a copy of its most recent annual report delivered to the Division of Corporations;
- (i) all financial statements prepared for periods ending during the last three years;
 - (j) minutes of all meetings of the Board;
 - (k) a record of all actions taken by the Board without a meeting;
- (I) a record of all actions taken by a committee of the Board on behalf of the Association;
- (m) a record of all waivers of notices of meetings of members, the Board or any committee;
- (n) a record of its members in a form that permits preparation of a list of the name and address of all members in alphabetical order, showing the number of votes each member is entitled to cast;
 - (o) membership transfer books and records; and
 - (p) appropriate accounting records.

Section 3.2. <u>Inspection of Records</u>. A director or member is entitled to inspect and copy any of the records of the Association during regular business hours, at the Association's principal office, so long as the director or member gives the Association written demand, at least five business days before the date on which the director or member wishes to inspect and copy the records. A director or member may inspect and copy the records if the demand is made in good faith, for a proper purpose, the director or member describes with reasonable particularity the purpose and the records the director or member desires to inspect, and the records are directly connected with the described purpose.

Section 3.3 <u>Financial Statements</u>: Upon the written request of any member of the Association, the Association shall mail to such member its most recent financial statements showing in reasonable detail its assets and liabilities and the results of its operation, unless the member has already received the same. Neither the Association nor any director, officer, employee or agent of the Association shall be liable to the member or anyone to whom the member discloses the financial statement or any information contained therein for any error or omission therein, whether caused without fault, by negligence or by gross negligence, unless (1) the error or omission is material, (2) the director, officer, employee or agent in question knew of the error or omission and intended for the member or other person to rely thereon to his detriment, (3) the member or other persons did reasonably rely thereon, and, in addition, (4) he is otherwise liable under applicable law.

ARTICLE IV MEMBERSHIP

- Section 4.1. Membership; Voting. Every person or entity who is a record owner of a fee or undivided interest in any lot which is subject by covenants of record to assessment pursuant to the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Pinebrook Subdivisions, Summit County, Utah, dated September 9, 1977, recorded in the office of the Summit County Recorder at Book No. M102, pages 118-134, Entry No. 141275, as supplemented, amended or rerecorded (the "CCRs"), shall be a member of the Association. Ownership of such lot shall be the sole qualification for membership. There shall be more than one membership for each lot owned.
 - (a) <u>Classes of Membership</u>. The Association shall have one classe of voting memberships, denominated as Class A. Class A members shall be every person or entity who is a record owner of a fee or undivided interest in any lot which is subject by covenants of record to assessment pursuant to the CCRs. References to the Declarant in the CCRs no longer apply in the Pinebrook Estates subdivisions. Membership in the Association shall be by book-entry.
 - (b) <u>Voting Rights of Members</u>. Each Class A membership shall be entitled to one (1) vote on each matter submitted to vote at a meeting of members, except to the extent that the voting rights of a member are limited or denied by the CCRs.
 - (1) <u>If More than One Owner</u>. When more than one person holds such interest in any lot, all such persons shall be members. However, the vote for such lot shall be exercised as the members owning such lot shall

among themselves determine, but in no event shall more than one (1) vote be cast with respect to any lot. In other words, each lot shall represent one (1) membership.

(2) Voting of Memberships by Fiduciaries.

- (A) Memberships held by an administrator, executor, guardian, or conservator may be voted by him either in person or by proxy without a transfer of such membership into his name.
- (B) Memberships standing in the name of a trustee may be voted by him either in person or by proxy but no trustee shall be entitled to vote memberships held by him without a transfer of such membership into his name.
- (C) Memberships standing in the name of a receiver may be voted by such receiver, and memberships held by, or under the control of a receiver, may be voted by such receiver without the transfer thereof into his name, if authorization to do so is contained in an appropriate order of the court by which such receiver was appointed.
- (D) A member whose membership is pledged shall be entitled to vote such membership until the membership shall have been transferred into the name of the pledgee, and thereafter the pledgee shall be entitled to vote the membership so transferred.
- (E) Memberships belonging to the Association or held by it in a fiduciary capacity, shall not be voted, directly or indirectly, at any meeting, and shall not be counted in determining the total number of outstanding memberships at any given time.
- Section 4.2. <u>Memberships Appurtenant</u>. Memberships shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from the ownership of any lot which is subject to assessment by the Association.
- Section 4.3 <u>Transfers of Memberships</u>. The membership held by any owner of a lot shall not be transferred, pledged or alienated in any way, except upon the sale or encumbrance of such lot, and then only to the purchaser or deed of trust holder of such lot. Any attempt to make a prohibited transfer is void, and will not be reflected upon the

books and records of the Association. In the event the owner of any lot should fail or refuse to transfer the membership registered in his name to the purchaser of such lot, the Association shall have the right to record the transfer upon the membership books of the Association.

Section 4.4. <u>Leased Memberships</u>. Memberships in the Association may be leased by any member to any lessee of the lot to which the membership is appurtenant. No membership shall be leased for use on any other lot or property without the express written approval of the Board. All voting rights with respect to any leased memberships in the Association shall be exercised by the lessee of said membership. The lessee of any membership of the Association shall be subject to and agree to abide by these Bylaws and all lawful rules and regulations of the Association.

Section 4.5 <u>Rules</u>. The Board shall have power and authority to make all such rules and regulations as it may deem expedient concerning the transfer and registration of memberships in the Association not inconsistent with the laws of the State of Utah, the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws.

ARTICLE V MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

Section 5.1 <u>Place of Meetings</u>: All meetings of the members, annual or special, however called, shall be held at the principal office of the Association unless the Board designates another place for any meeting, either within or without the State of Utah.

Section 5.2 <u>Annual Meeting</u>: An annual meeting of the members of the Association shall be held at such time and on such date as shall be stated in or fixed in accordance with a resolution of the Board. The failure to hold an annual or regular meeting at the time and date determined shall not affect the validity of any corporate action or work a forfeiture or dissolution of the Association.

Section 5.3 Special Meetings: Special meetings of the members may be called by the president, or by the Board, or by the holders of memberships representing not less than one-third (1/3) of the total votes entitled to be cast at the meeting.

Section 5.4 <u>Notice of Members' Meetings</u>: Written or printed notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, specifically including, without limitation, a description of any matter or matters that must be approved by the members, or for which members' approval is sought with respect to amendments to the articles of

incorporation and bylaws, plan of merger, sales of property other than in the regular course of activities and dissolution by the Board and the members. Notice shall be delivered not fewer than ten (10) nor more than fifty (50) days before the date of the meeting, either personally or by first class mail, by or at the direction of the president, the secretary, or the officer or persons calling the meeting to each member of record entitled to vote at such meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mall addressed to the member at his address as it appears on the membership transfer books of the Association with postage thereon prepaid.

Section 5.5 <u>Waiver of Notice</u>: Any member may waive notice of any meeting of members (however called or noticed, whether or not called or noticed and whether before, during or after the meeting) by signing a written waiver of notice or a consent to the holding of such meeting, or an approval of the minutes thereof. Attendance at a meeting, in person or by proxy, shall constitute waiver of all defects of call or notice, regardless of whether walver, consent or approval is signed or any objections are made. All such waivers, consents or approvals shall be made a part of the minutes of the meeting.

Section 5.6 Fixing Record Date for Meetings: The membership transfer books of the Association shall not be closed for the purpose of determining members entitled to notice or to vote at a meeting of the members but, in lieu thereof, the date on which notice is given in accordance with Section 5.4 above shall be the record date for those purposes. Such date shall not be more than fifty (50) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of the meeting. When a determination of members entitled to vote at any meeting of members has been made under this section, such determination shall apply to any adjournment thereof.

Section 5.7 Voting List: The officer or agent having charge of the membership transfer books for ownership units or memberships of the Association shall make a complete list of the members entitled to vote at such meeting or any adjournment thereof, arranged in alphabetical order, with the address of and the number of memberships held by each, which list shall be produced and kept open at the time and place of the meeting and shall be subject to the inspection of any member, for any purpose germane to the meeting, during the whole time of the meeting. The original membership transfer books shall be *prima facie* evidence as to who are the members entitled to examine such list or transfer books or to vote at any meeting of members. Failure to comply with the requirements of this section shall not affect the validity of any action taken at such meeting.

Section 5.8 Quorum; Act of the Members: Unless a greater number of memberships is required under another section of these Bylaws or under the Association's Articles of Incorporation or under the Act, the memberships present in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of members. The vote of a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by the memberships present or represented by proxy at a meeting where a quorum is present shall be the act of the members, unless a greater proportion is required by the Act or by the Articles of Incorporation.

Section 5.9 <u>Proxies</u>: A member may vote either in person or by proxy executed in writing by the member or by his duly authorized attorney-in-fact. No proxy shall be valid after eleven (11) months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy specifically providing a longer length of time for which the proxy is to continue in force, which in no case shall exceed seven (7) years from the date of execution. Any member giving a written consent, or his proxy, or his transferee or personal representative, or their respective proxies, may revoke the same prior to the time that written consents of the number of memberships required to authorize the proposed action have been filed with the secretary of the Association, but may not do so thereafter.

Section 5.10 <u>Adjournments</u>: Any members' meeting, whether or not a quorum is present, may be adjourned from time to time by the vote of a majority of the votes entitled to be cast at such meeting, the holders of which are either present in person or represented by proxy thereat, but, except as provided in Section 5.8 herein, in the absence of a quorum no other business may be transacted at such meeting. When a meeting is adjourned for thirty (30) days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original special meeting. Save, as aforesaid, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of the time and place of the adjourned meeting or of the business to be transacted thereat other than by announcement at the meeting at which such adjournment is taken.

Section 5.11 <u>Meetings by Telecommunication</u>. Any member may participate in an annual, regular, or special meeting of the members by, or the meeting may be conducted through the use of, any means of communication by which all persons participating in the meeting may hear each other during the meeting. A member participating in a meeting by a means permitted hereunder is considered to be present in person at the meeting.

ARTICLE VI BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 6.1 Number, Term: All corporate powers shall be exercised and the business and affairs of the Association shall be managed by the governing board (the "Board"), consisting of seven (7) directors, each of whom shall be elected for a term of two (2) years and shall hold office until their successors are elected and qualified as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws. Terms of office of the directors shall be staggered so that the terms of three of the directors end in one year and four the next. The term of each director shall begin immediately on his election and shall continue until the date set under these Bylaws for the next annual meeting of the members.

Section 6.2 General Powers: In addition to the powers and authorities by these Bylaws and the Articles of Incorporation expressly conferred upon it, the Board may exercise all such powers of the Association and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the Articles of Incorporation or by these Bylaws directed or required to be exercised or done by the members. Without limiting the general powers of the Board to exercise control of the Association set forth above, the Board may, among other things: (i) buy, sell, exchange, or dispose of the real and personal property of the Association as may be deemed necessary; however, no sale, exchange or lease of real estate shall be valid until approved by the members at a regular or a special meeting of the members called for that purpose; (ii) regulate the transfer of Association memberships; (iii) prescribe the duties of its officers, agents, and employees, and fill all vacancies in the Board caused by death, resignation or otherwise; (iv) levy assessments on all memberships in the Association and enforce and collect these assessments; (vii) employ engineers, attorneys, superIntendents, and other subordinate officers, agents and laborers as in their judgment the business of the Association may require, prescribe their duties, and provide for their compensation; and (vi) to make resolutions not inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation or the laws of the State of Utah, for the administration and regulation of affairs of the Association; and (vi) to have and exercise all powers necessary or convenient to effect any or all of the purposes for which the Association is organized so long as such actions are not inconsistent with law or the Association's Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws.

Section 6.3 <u>Qualifications</u>: Directors shall be natural persons of 18 years of age or older, be members of the Association, and shall have Pinebrook Estates subdivisions as their permanent residence. With regard to corporations or other business entities which own memberships in the Association, one natural person who is an officer, director, manager or partner of any such member, who is designated in

writing by said member as the corporate or business representative of said member, shall be eligible to serve as a director on the Board.

Section 6.4 <u>Compensation</u>: Members of the Board shall not be compensated, except that directors shall have their annual assessments (but not special assessments) waived during their term of office.

Section 6.5 <u>Election of Directors</u>: At each election of directors every member entitled to vote at such election shall have the right to vote, in person or by proxy, the number of votes which he is entitled to cast, according to his class membership, for as many persons as there are directors to be elected and for whose election he has a right to vote. The candidates receiving the highest number of votes up to the number of directors to be elected shall be declared elected. Elections for directors shall be by written ballot.

Section 6.6 Vacancies: A vacancy or vacancies in the Board shall exist in case of the death, resignation or removal of any directors, or if the authorized number of directors is increased, or if the members fail, or any annual or special meeting at which any director is elected, to elect the full authorized number of directors to be voted for at that meeting. Also, the Board may declare vacant the office of a director if he is found to be of unsound mind by an order of a court of competent jurisdiction or convicted of a felony or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude or if, within sixty (60) days after notice of his election, he does not accept the office either in writing or by attending a meeting of the Board. Any vacancy occurring may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors (or a sole remaining director) although less than a quorum. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his predecessor in office, or if there was no predecessor, until the date set under these Bylaws for the next annual meeting and until his successor is elected. Any vacancy created by reason of the removal of one or more directors by the members may be filled by election of the members at the meeting at which the director or directors are removed.

Section 6.7 <u>Removal</u>: At a meeting expressly called for that purpose, one or more directors may be removed by a vote of a majority of the votes entitled to be cast at an election of directors, represented in person or by proxy.

Section 6.8 <u>Regular Meetings</u>: A regular meeting of the Board shall be held without other notice than this Bylaw on the first Thursday of every month unless that day is a holiday, in which event the meeting shall be held on the second Thursday of that month. Regular meetings shall be held at the offices of Gorgoza Water Company,

7950 North Pinebrook Road, Park City, Utah 94098 at 7:00 p.m. If the Gorgoza Water Company offices are not available for a regular meeting, the meeting will be held elsewhere in the Pinebrook Estates subdivisions, and notice of the location of the meeting shall be posted on the front door of the Gorgoza Water Company office.

Section 6.9 <u>Special Meetings</u>: Special meetings of the Board may be called by or at the request of the president or any four directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board may fix any time and place within Summit County, Utah, as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board called by them.

Section 6.10 Notice of Special Meetings: Notice of any special meeting shall be given at least three (3) days previously thereto either personally, by mail at his home or business address, by facsimile transmission, or by e-mail. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid. If by facsimile or e-mail, notice shall be deemed to be delivered when faxed or e-mailed. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board need be specified in the notice of such meeting. At any meeting at which every director shall be present, even through without any notice, any business may be transacted.

Section 6.11 Action Without a Meeting.

- (a) Any action required or permitted to be taken at a Board meeting may be taken without a meeting if each and every director in writing either:
 - (1) votes for the action; or
 - (2) votes against the action or abstains from voting; and waives the right to demand that action not be taken without a meeting.
- (b) Action is taken under this section only if the affirmative vote for the action equals or exceeds the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to take the action at a meeting at which all of the directors then in office were present and voted.
- (c) An action taken pursuant to this Section 6.11 is not effective unless the Association receives a written document satisfying the requirements of subsection (1) of this Section 6.11, signed by all directors, and which is not revoked pursuant to subsection d. of this Section 6.11. The writing may be

received by electronically transmitted facsimile or other form of wire or wireless communication providing the Association with a complete copy of the document, including a copy of the signature on the document. A director's right to demand that action not be taken without a meeting shall be considered to have been waived if the Association receives a writing satisfying the requirements of this subsection c. of this Section that has been signed by the director and not revoked pursuant to subsection d. of this Section 6.11. Action taken pursuant to this section shall be effective when the last writing necessary to effect the action is received by the Association, unless the writings describing the action taken set forth a different effective date.

- (d) If the writing is received by the Association before the last writing necessary to effect the action is received by the Association, any director who has signed a writing pursuant to this Section 6.11 may revoke the writing by a writing signed and dated by the director describing the action and stating that the director's prior vote with respect to the writing is revoked.
- (e) Action taken pursuant to this Section 6.11 has the same effect as action taken at a meeting of directors and may be described as an action taken at a meeting of directors in any document.

Section 6.12 <u>Telephone Conference Participation</u>. Any meeting may be held by conference telephone or similar communications equipment as long as all Board members participating in the meeting can hear one another, and any such participation shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

Section 6.13 Quorum and Voting: At any meeting of the Board, a majority of the directors in office immediately prior the beginning of the meeting shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, but if less than said number is present at a meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice. Each director shall be entitled to one (1) vote on all matters brought before the Board.

Section 6.14 <u>Manner of Acting</u>: If a quorum is present when the vote is taken, the affirmative vote of the majority of the directors present at a meeting shall be the act of the Board. For the purpose of determining a quorum with respect to a particular proposal, and for purposes of casting a vote for or against a particular proposal, a director may be considered present at a meeting and to vote if the director has granted a signed written proxy to another director who is present and which authorizes the other director to cast the vote that is directed to be cast by the written proxy with respect to

the particular proposal that is described with reasonable specificity in the proxy. A meeting at which a quorum is initially is present may continue to transact business, notwithstanding the withdrawal of one or more directors, if any action taken is approved by at least a majority of the required quorum for the meeting.

Section 6.15 <u>Waiver of Notice</u>: <u>Presumption of Assent</u>: Any director may waive notice of any meeting. A director's attendance at or participation in a meeting waives any required notice to that director of the meeting unless at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon the director's later arrival, the director objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting because of lack of notice or defective notice; and after objecting, the director does not vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting; or if special notice was required of a particular purpose the director objects to transacting business with respect to the purpose for which the special notice was required; and after objecting, the director does not vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting with respect to the purpose.

Section 6.16 <u>Committees</u>: The Board by resolution adopted by the majority of the number of directors fixed by the Bylaws may designate a committee or committees consisting of not less than two directors, which committee or committees, to the extent provided in such resolution, shall have and may exercise all the authority therein provided; but the designation of such committee or committees and the delegation thereto of authority shall not operate to relieve the Board, or any member thereof, of any responsibility imposed upon it or him by law.

ARTICLE VII OFFICERS

Section 7.1 Number, Election and Term of Office: The officers of the Association shall consist of a president, a vice president, a secretary, a treasurer, and a Pinebrook Master Association Delegate. Each of the president, vice president, secretary and treasurershall be elected from among the members of the Board for a term of one year by the directors at their first meeting after the annual meeting of members, and who shall hold office until their successors are elected and qualified. The Pinebrook Master Association Delegate may, but need not be, a member of the Board. Any two or more of the offices of president, vice president, secretary and treasurer may be held by the same person, except the offices of president and secretary.

Section 7.2 Duties:

(a) President: The powers and duties of the president are:

-12-

- (1) To act as the chief executive officer of the Association and, subject to the control of the Board, to have general supervision, direction and control of the business and affairs of the Association.
- (2) To preside at all meetings of the members and at all meetings of the Board.
- (3) To call meetings of the members and also of the Board to be held at such times and, subject to the limitations prescribed by law or by these Bylaws, at such places as he shall deem proper.
- (4) To affix the signature of the Association to all deeds, conveyances, mortgages, leases, obligations, bonds, certificates and other papers and instruments in writing which have been authorized by the Board or which, in the judgment of the president, should be executed on behalf of the Association and do not require such authorization and, subject to the direction of the Board, to have general charge of the property of the Association and to supervise and control all officers, agents and employees of the Association.
- (b) <u>President pro tem</u>: If neither the president, nor the vice president is present at any meeting of the Board, a president pro tem may be chosen by the Board to preside and act at such meeting.
- (c) <u>Vice president</u>: In case of the absence, disability or death of the president, the vice president shall exercise all his powers and perform all of his duties. The vice president shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be granted or prescribed by the Board.
 - (d) Secretary: The powers and duties of the secretary are:
 - (1) To keep a book of minutes at the principal office of the Association, or such other place as the Board may order, of all meetings of its directors and members, with the time and place of holding, whether regular or special, and, if special, how authorized, the notice thereof given, the names of those present at directors' meetings, the number of memberships present or represented by members' meetings and the proceedings thereof.

- (2) To keep the seal of the Association and to affix the same to all instruments which may require it.
- (3) To keep or cause to be kept at the principal office of the Association, or such other place as the Board may order, a membership register, or duplicate membership registers, and showing the names of the members and their addresses, the number and classes of memberships held by each.
- (4) To keep or cause to be kept at the principal office of the Association, or such other place as the Board may order, the book s and records required by Section 3.1, above.
- (5) To transfer upon the membership books of the Association any and all memberships of the Association.
- (6) To make service and publication of all notices that may be necessary or proper, and without command or direction from anyone. In case of the absence, disability, refusal or neglect of the secretary to make service or publication of any notices, then such notices may be served and/or published by the president or a vice president, or by any person thereunto authorized by either of them or by the Board or by the holders of a majority of the outstanding memberships of the Association.
 - (7) To prepare the voting lists required by Section 5.7 above.
- (8) Generally to do and perform all such duties as pertain to his office and as may be required by the Board.
- (e) Treasurer: The powers and duties of the treasurer are:
- (1) To supervise and control the keeping and maintaining of adequate and correct accounts of the Association's properties and affairs, including accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital, surplus and shares. Any surplus, including earned surplus, paid-in surplus and surplus arising from a reduction of stated capital, shall be classified according to source and shown in a separate account. The books of account shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by any director and by any member as provided in Section 3.1 above.

- (2) To keep or cause to be kept at the principal office of the Association, or such other place as the Board may order, the books and records required by Section 3.1, above.
- (3) To have the custody of all funds, securities, evidences of indebtedness and other valuable documents of the Association and, at his discretion, to cause any or all thereof to be deposited for the account of the Association with such depositary as may be designated from time to time by the Board.
- (4) To receive or cause to be received, and to give or cause to be given, receipts and acquittances for monies paid in for the account of the Association.
- (5) To disburse, or cause to be disbursed, all funds of the Association as may be directed by the Board, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements.
- (6) To render to the president and to the Board, whenever they may require, accounts of all transactions as treasurer and of the financial condition of the Association.
- (7) Generally to do and perform all such duties as pertain to his office and as may be required by the Board.
- (f) <u>Pinebrook Master Association Delegate</u>: The voting delegate from the Association to the Pinebrook Master Association ("PMA") shall be appointed by a vote of the majority of the Board at the second regular meeting of the Board following the annual meeting of the Association. The term of office of the voting delegate ("PMA Delegate") shall be approximately one year, that is until the second regular meeting of the Board following the subsequent annual meeting. The duties of the PMA Delegate are:
 - (1) The PMA Delegate shall be the designated voting delegate to the Pinebrook Master Association representing the Association.
 - (2) The PMA Delegate shall represent the interests of the Association at all delegate meetings of the Pinebrook Master Association.

- (3) The PMA Delegate shall make a good-faith effort in seeking election to the board of trustees of the Pinebrook Master Association (the "PMA Board") and if elected vote thereon in the best interest of the Association. The PMA Delegate shall also make a good-faith effort in supporting the election of other PMA Board members such that the representation of trustees on the PMA Board who are members of the Association is at least proportional to the Association's membership compared with the total membership of the Pinebrook Master Association.
- (4) If elected to the PMA Board, the PMA Delegate shall to the extent reasonably possible attend all regular meetings of the PMA Board and inform the Association's Board of: (i) any anticipated vote of the PMA Board regarding the annual budget of the Pinebrook Master Association; (ii) any proposals for increases in the annual assessments of the Pinebrook Master Association; (iii) any special assessments of the Pinebrook Master Association; (iv) any actions being taken or proposed to be taken by the PMA Board that may substantially affect any property rights within common areas owned by the Pinebrook Master Association, including, but not limited to, any transfers of title or access easements within the common area; (v) any capital improvements in excess of \$10,000 proposed to be taken by the PMA Board, and (vi) any other actions being taken or proposed to be taken that may be of substantial interest to the Board.
- (5) The PMA Delegate shall attend one regular meeting of the Board each calendar quarter or as otherwise requested by the Board to report on matters pertaining to the PMA Board.
- Section 7.3 <u>Compensation</u>: Officers of the Association shall receive no compensation for their services.
- Section 7.4 Removal and Vacancies: The officers of the Association shall hold office until their successors are chosen and qualified. Any officer elected or appointed by the Board may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the whole Board, whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Association will be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Election or appointment of an officer or agent shall not of itself create contract rights.

ARTICLE XIII ASSESSMENTS

Section 8.1 Creation of the Lien and Personal Obligation of Assessments: Each Class A member, by acceptance of a real estate contract or deed for such member's fee interest in a lot or lots subject to the Declaration, whether or not it shall be so expressed in any such contract or deed, is deemed to covenant and agree to pay to the Association (a) regular assessments or charges, and (b) special assessments for capital improvements, such assessments to be fixed, established and collected from time to time as provided herein and in the Declaration. The regular and special assessments, together with late charges, and accrued interest thereon and costs of collection thereof, as hereinafter provided, shall be a charge on the land and shall be a continuing lien upon the lot against which each such assessment is made. Each such assessment, together with such interest, costs and reasonable attorney's fees, shall also be the personal obligation of the person who was the owner of such property at the time when the assessment fell due. The personal obligation shall not pass to his successors in title, unless expressly assumed by them. No membership may be transferred to a subsequent purchaser until all assessments, interest, penalties and other charges that are due have been paid in full to the Association.

Section 8.2 <u>Purpose of Assessments</u>: The assessments levied by the Association shall be used exclusively for the purpose of promoting the recreation, health, safety and welfare of the members of the Association, for the payment of Pinebrook Master Association assessments, and for the improvement and maintenance of Common Areas, properties, services and facilities devoted to this purpose.

Section 8.3 <u>Regular Assessments</u>: The amount and time of payment of regular assessments shall be determined by the Board after giving due consideration to the current maintenance costs and future needs and obligations of the Association. Written notice of the amount of an assessment, regular or special, shall be sent to every owner, and the due date for the payment of same shall be set forth in said notice.

Section 8.4 <u>Special Assessments for Capital Improvements</u>: In addition to the regular assessments authorized above, the Association may levy, in any assessment year, a special assessment for the purpose of defraying, in whole or in part, the cost of any construction, repair or replacement of a capital improvement upon the Common Area, including fixtures and personal property related thereto; provided that any such assessment shall have the assent of a majority of the membership entitled to vote and who are voting in person or by proxy at a special meeting of members duly called for

this purpose. At such meeting called, the presence of members or of proxies entitled to cast 50 percent (50%) or more of membership shall constitute a quorum for any action authorized under this Section 8.4.

- Section 8.5 <u>Uniform Rate of Assessment</u>: Both regular and special assessments shall be fixed at a uniform rate for all lots owned by Class A members and may be collected monthly or at such other times as the Board may determine.
- Section 8.6 <u>Date of Commencement of Regular Assessments and Fixing Thereof</u>: The regular assessments provided for herein shall commence as to all lots on the first day of the month following the purchase of each lot to an individual owner. Monthly or annual assessments will be payable at times designated by the Board.
- Section 8.7 <u>Certificate of Payment</u>: The Association shall, upon demand, furnish any owner liable for said assessment, a certificate in writing signed by an officer of the Association, setting forth whether the regular and special assessments on a specified lot have been paid, and the amount of the delinquency, if any. A reasonable charge may be made by the Board for the issuance of these certificates. Such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of payment of any assessment therein stated to have been paid.
- Section 8.8 Exempt Property: The following property shall be exempt from the assessments created herein and in the Declaration:
 - (a) All properties dedicated to and accepted by a local public authority;
 - (b) The Common Area, if any (however, regular and special assessments can be levied against the members in order to pay for improvements to and the upkeep of such Common Areas); and
 - (c) All properties owned by a charitable or nonprofit organization exempt from taxation by the laws of the State of Utah.
- Section 8.9 <u>Nonpayment of Assessments</u>. The following shall govern in the event of nonpayment of assessments:
 - (a) <u>Delinquency</u>: Any assessment provided for in this Article VIII, which is not paid when due, shall be delinquent. With respect to each assessment not paid within fifteen (15) days after its due date, the Association may, at its election, require the owner to pay a "late charge" in a sum to be determined by

the Association, but not to exceed \$10.00 per each delinquent assessment. If any such assessment is not paid within thirty (30) days after the delinquency date, the assessment shall bear interest from the date of delinquency at the rate of ten percent (10%) per annum, and the Association may, at its option, bring an action at law against the owner personally obligated to pay the same, or, upon compliance with the notice provisions of subsection (b) below, to foreclose the lien (provided for in Section 8.1) against the lot, and there shall be added to the amount of such assessment the late charge, the costs of preparing and filing the complaint in such action, and in the event a judgment is obtained, such judgment shall include said interest and a reasonable attorney's fee, together with the costs of action. Each owner vests in the Association or its assigns, the right and power to bring all actions at law or in equity or lien foreclosure against all proper parties for the collection of such delinquent assessments.

- (b) Notice of Lien: No action shall be brought to foreclose said assessment lien or to proceed under the power of sale herein provided less than thirty (30) days after the date of a notice of claim of lien is deposited in the United States mail, certified or registered to the owner of said lot.
- (c) <u>Foreclosure Sale</u>: Any such foreclosure and subsequent sale provided for above shall be conducted in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah relating to liens, mortgages, and deeds of trust. The Association, through its duly authorized agents, shall have the power to bid on the lot at foreclosure sale, and to acquire and hold, lease, mortgage and convey the same.
- (d) <u>Curing of Default</u>: Upon the timely curing of any default of which a notice of claim of lien was filed by the Association, the officers of the Association are hereby authorized to file or record, as the case may be, an appropriate release of such notice, upon payment by the defaulting owner of a fee, to be determined by the Association, but not to exceed \$25.00, to cover the costs of preparing and filing or recording such release, together with the payment of such other costs, interest or fees as shall have been incurred.
- (e) <u>Cumulative Remedies</u>: The assessment lien and the rights to foreclosure and sale thereunder shall be in addition to and not in substitution for all other rights and remedies which the Association and its assigns may have hereunder and by law, including a suit to recover a money judgment for unpaid assessments, as above provided.

(f) <u>Subordination of Assessment Liens</u>: If any lot subject to a monetary lien created by any provision hereof shall be subject to the lien of a deed of trust (i) the foreclosure of any lien created by anything set forth in these Bylaws shall not operate to affect or impair the lien of such deed of trust; and (ii) the foreclosure of the lien or deed of trust or the acceptance of a deed in lieu of foreclosure of the deed of trust shall not operate to affect or impair the lien hereof, except that the lien hereof for said charges as shall have accrued up to the foreclosure or the acceptance of the deed in lieu of foreclosure shall be subordinate to the lien of the deed of trust, with the foreclosure -purchaser or deed-in-lieu-grantee taking title free of the lien hereof for all said charges that have accrued up to the time of the foreclosure of deed given in lieu of foreclosure, but subject to the lien hereof or all said charges that shall accrue subsequent to the foreclosure or deed given in lieu of foreclosure.

ARTICLE IX INDEMNIFICATION

Section 9.1 Actions against Association: The Association shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to threatened, repending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the Association) by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorney's fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, suit or proceeding if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Association, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The termination of any action, sult or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of noto contendre or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Association and with respect to any criminal action or proceeding had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.

Section 9.2 <u>Actions by Association</u>: The Association shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the Association to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee

or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against expenses (including attorney's fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or sult if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Association and except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have ben adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his duty to the Association unless and only to the extent that the court in which such action or sult was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which such court shall deem proper.

Section 9.3 <u>Attorney's Fees and Costs</u>: To the extent that a director, officer, employee or agent of the Association has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in Sections 9.1 or 9.2, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorney's fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.

Section 9.4 <u>Authorization by Board</u>: Any indemnification under Sections 9.1 and 9.2 (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the Association only as authorized in the specific case upon a determination that indemnification of the director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Sections 9.1 or 9.2. Such determination shall be made by the Board by a majority vote of a quorum of the directors, or by the members.

Section 9.5 Advance of Expenses: Expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding may be paid by the Association in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding as authorized in the manner provided in Section 9.4 upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director, officer, employee or agent to repay such amount unless it shall ultimately be determined that he is entitled to be indemnified by the Association as authorized herein.

Section 9.6 Other Rights: The indemnification provided by this Article IX shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those indemnified may be entitled under any bylaw, agreement, vote of members or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in his official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director,

officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.

Section 9.7 <u>Insurance</u>: The Association may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability or arising out of his status as such, whether or not the Association would have the power to indemnify him against such liability under the provisions of this Article IX.

Section 9.8 Notice of Indemnification: If the Association indemnifies or advances expenses to a director or officer under this Article in connection with a proceeding by or in the right of the Association, the Association shall give written notice of the indemnification or advance to the members with or before the notice of the next members' meeting.

ARTICLE X AMENDMENT

Section 10.1 <u>Amendment by Directors</u>. Subject to the right of members as provided in Section 10.2 of this Article, the Board may adopt, amend or repeal bylaws.

Section 10.2 Amendment by Members. These bylaws may be repealed or amended, or new bylaws may be adopted, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the memberships in attendance and entitled to vote at a meeting called for that purpose and at which a quorum is present. Except as set forth in the Act, the Board shall first be required to recommend the amendment to the members. Notice shall be given to each member of the shareholder's meeting at which the amendment will be voted upon, which notice shall state that the purpose, or one of the purposes of the meeting is to consider the amendment and contain or be accompanied by a copy or a summary of the amendment or state the general nature of the amendment.

Section 10.3 <u>Record of Amendments</u>. Any amendment or new bylaws adopted by the shareholders or the Board shall be copied in the appropriate place in the minute book with the original bylaws, and the repeal of any bylaw shall be entered on the original bylaws together with the date and manner of such repeal. The original or a copy of the bylaws as amended to date shall be open to inspection by the shareholders at the Association's principal office at all reasonable times during office hours.

Section 10.4 <u>Bylaw Provisions Additional and Supplemental to Provisions by Law:</u> All restrictions, limitations, requirements and other provisions of these Bylaws shall be construed, insofar as possible, as supplemental and additional to all provisions of law applicable to the subject matter thereof and shall be fully complied with in addition to the said provisions of law unless such compliance shall be illegal.

Section 10.5 Bylaw Provisions Contrary to or Inconsistent with Provisions of Law: Any article, section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause or phrase of these Bylaws which, upon being construed in the manner provided in Section 10.4 hereof, shall be contrary to or inconsistent with any applicable provision of law, including Summit County ordinances, shall not apply so long as said provisions of law shall remain in effect, but such result shall not affect the validity or applicability of any other portions of these Bylaws, it being hereby declared that these Bylaws would have been adopted and each article, section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more articles, sections, subsections, subdivisions, sentences, clauses or phrases is or are illegal.

ARTICLE XI SUNDRY PROVISIONS

Section 11.1 <u>Instruments in Writing</u>: All checks, drafts, demands for money and notes of the Association, and all written contracts of the Association, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, as the Board may from time to time by resolution designate. No officer, agent or employee of the Association shall have power to bind the Association by contract or otherwise unless authorized to do so by these Bylaws or by the Board.

Section 11.2 <u>Fiscal Year</u>: The fiscal year of the Association shall be a calendar year commencing on January 1 and ending December 31.

Section 11.3 <u>Shares of Stock Held by the Association</u>: Shares in other corporations standing in the name of this Association may be voted or represented and all rights incident thereto may be exercised on behalf of this Association by any officer of this Association authorized so to do by resolution of the Board.

Section 11.4 <u>References</u>. All words used in these Bylaws shall be construed to be of such number and gender as the context requires or permits.

WE HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is the original or a true and	correct
copy of the Amended and Restated By-Laws adopted by Pinebrook Homeow	/ners'
Association at a special meeting of the Board duly held this day of	
, 2003.	

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION NOTICE RE: AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS AND AMENDMENT TO BYLAWS WE HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing twenty-three (23) pages plus a cover page and three-page Table of Contents shall constitute a true and correct copy of the original *Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Pinebrook Homeowners' Association* adopted at a special meeting of the Association's Board of Directors duly held on September 28, 2003.

DATED this _9_ day of July, 2019.

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC. A Utah nonprofit corporation

By: Holly Smith

State of Utah

,)ss.

County of Summit

Saltlake

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of July, 2019, by Holly Smith, the President of the Pinebrook Homeowners' Association, Inc.



Votary Public

Residing at 2022's 2100e SLC, VT 84108

Exhibit C

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of Pinebrook Homeowners' Association, Inc.

FIRST AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC.

Pinebrook Homeowners' Association, Inc. (the "Association"), by its duly authorized President and under the authority of Sections 16-6a-707 and 16-6a-1010 of the Utah Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act, and Sections 10.1 and 10.3 of its Amended and Restated Bylaws (the "Bylaws"), hereby certifies that the following amendment to its Bylaws was duly adopted unanimously by the Board of Directors at its April 16, 2019 Meeting.

Section 6.1 is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced by the following:

6.1 Number, Term. All corporate powers shall be exercised and the business and affairs of the Association shall be managed by the governing board of directors (also referred to in the Articles of Incorporation as a board of trustees and referred to therein and herein as the "Board"), consisting of seven (7) directors, each of whom shall be elected for a term of three (3) years. Directors shall begin their terms immediately upon election and shall hold office until their successors are elected and qualified or the seat is vacated as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws. Terms of office shall be staggered; three (3) directors will be elected in 2020, two (2) directors will be elected in 2021, two (2) directors will start over in 2023.

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that this Amendment to Bylaws has been examined by me and is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and complete.

Dated this A day of July, 2019.

PINEBROOK HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION, INC. A Utah nonprofit corporation

By: Holly Smith

Its: President

State of Utah

)ss.

County of Summit

sait lake

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of July, 2019, by Holly Smith, the President of the Pinebrook Homeowners' Association, Inc.

Dennif Rukensen Novary Public

Residing at 2022 S 2100e SLC, UT 84108